Case No. S222472
IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

Friends of the Eel River and Californians for Alternatives to Toxics
Plaintiffs and Appellants,

v.

**North Coast Railroad Authority and Board of Directors of North
Coast Railroad Authority**
Defendants and Respondents.

Northwestern Pacific Railroad Company
Real Party in Interest and Respondent

SUPREME COURT
FILED

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal
First Appellate District, Division One
Case Nos. A139222, A139235

FEB 23 2015

Appeal from the Marin County Superior Court,
Case Nos. CIV11-3605, CIV11-03591
Honorable Roy Chernus, Judge

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

PLAINTIFFS' OPENING BRIEF

Ellison Folk (SBN 149232)

ISSUES PRESENTED

(1) Where a railroad is also a State agency, can the Interstate Commerce Commission Termination Act (“ICCTA”) be construed to preempt the California Environmental Quality Act (“CEQA”) and thus nullify California’s sovereign authority to govern how its subdivisions make decisions that affect California’s environment?

(2) Does the ICCTA preempt the application of CEQA to a State agency’s proprietary acts with respect to a State-owned and funded rail line, as the Opinion holds, or is CEQA not preempted under the market participant doctrine, as the Third District held in *Town of Atherton v. California High-Speed Rail Authority* (2014) 228 Cal.App.4th 314?

(3) Does the ICCTA preempt a State agency’s voluntary commitments to comply with CEQA as a condition of: (i) receiving State funds for a State-owned rail line, and/or (ii) leasing State-owned property?

INTRODUCTION

In 1989, the California Legislature created the North Coast Railroad Authority (“NCRA”) to solve a regional economic problem. Private rail carriers on the north coast were failing and threatening to abandon century-old operations on the area’s lines. To support the floundering industry, the State entered the rail business. It created NCRA and empowered it to own, manage, and operate (either on its own or through a private vendor) a unified regional railroad. In creating NCRA, the State naturally established

core parameters to guide the agency's conduct, as it does with all public agencies. Most importantly, the State did not exempt NCRA from California's foundational public accountability laws, such as the Brown Act and—most relevant here—CEQA.

Like the private rail carriers before it, NCRA encountered great difficulty in running that rail business. After six years of operations hampered by pervasive rail dilapidation, decades of deferred maintenance, and severe storm damage, the federal government ultimately closed the rail line in 1998. The line was and remains plagued with toxic contamination from poorly maintained rail facilities and ecosystem damage to the Eel River, a state and federally-designated Wild and Scenic River.

The State therefore earmarked \$60 million to repair and rehabilitate the line and required CEQA review as a condition of that funding. The CEQA process culminated in certification of the Environmental Impact Report ("EIR") for major repairs and reopening of the southern portion of the line, the project that is the subject of this case.

Through these actions, Friends of the Eel River and Californians for Alternatives to Toxics seek to hold NCRA accountable to its commitment and obligation under CEQA to fully consider the significant environmental impacts of restoring and reopening the polluted and dilapidated rail line. But NCRA and its lessee Northwestern Pacific Railroad Company ("NWPCo.") (collectively, "Defendants") have now repudiated NCRA's

obligation to comply with CEQA and contend that section 10501(b) of the ICCTA preempts CEQA here. (See 49 U.S.C. § 10501, subd. (b).)

The ICCTA does not preempt Plaintiffs' actions. Section 10501(b) only prohibits states from regulating rail transportation, which furthers the ICCTA's purpose of deregulating the industry and centralizing the economic regulation of rail transportation. Section 10501(b) does not expressly preempt California's internal decisionmaking process regarding whether and how to reopen a publicly-owned rail line. Moreover, Defendants' preemption defense cannot overcome firmly-established precedent that federal preemption must be narrowly construed to preserve the State's traditional and sovereign powers.

Defendants' preemption argument also overlooks three independent doctrines that defeat federal preemption here. First, controlling U.S. Supreme Court precedent—*Gregory v. Ashcroft* (1991) 501 U.S. 452 and *Nixon v. Missouri Municipal League* (2004) 541 U.S. 125—instructs courts to construe federal preemption statutes to preserve states' plenary control over their subdivisions absent an “unmistakably clear” statement that Congress intended to intrude on that sovereign function. This doctrine avoids potential constitutional problems that would arise from reading federal statutes to permit interference with state sovereign functions. Here, California's Legislature exercised the State's sovereign power over public agencies by requiring NCRA to conduct CEQA review before carrying out

its project, and by granting the public a fundamental right to participate in the CEQA process and enforce CEQA's mandates. The ICCTA lacks the unmistakably clear and specific statement required to nullify these sovereign decisions.

Second, the U.S. Supreme Court has long held that under the market participant doctrine courts should not infer federal preemption of a state's proprietary, non-regulatory actions. (*Building & Constr. Trades Council v. Associated Builders & Contractors* (1993) 507 U.S. 218, 227.) Here, the ICCTA does not contain Congressional intent to preempt proprietary actions. Instead, its deregulatory purpose encourages free market forces. The State's actions in requiring CEQA compliance and enforcement were proprietary—they were a component of an internal business decision involving State funding and management of State-owned property.

Third, federal law does not preempt an entity's voluntary commitments because *self-imposed* obligations are not regulatory. Here, the State obligation to comply with CEQA was self-imposed and not preempted.

Each of these three doctrines separately shows that the ICCTA does not preempt CEQA here. Thus, a second-step implied preemption analysis under the ICCTA is not warranted. In any event, that analysis only confirms that here CEQA does not frustrate Congressional intent in enacting the ICCTA. Rather, reviewing environmental impacts and adopting feasible

mitigation are integral to California's process for determining whether and how to fund and reopen the line. The ICCTA simply does not reach such internal decisionmaking by a state agency. Thus, the ICCTA also does not preempt CEQA here under an implied preemption analysis.

For these reasons this Court should hold that the ICCTA does not trump State law designed to inform California's decisions about how to restore and reopen the rail line and should remand the case for a decision on the merits of Plaintiffs' CEQA claims. Otherwise, NCRA's rail project, including reopening the remainder of the rail line through the environmentally sensitive Eel River Canyon, will escape State environmental review altogether. If successful, this tactic could prove devastating to the natural resources California law is intended to protect.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The Legislature Established NCRA to Own and Manage the Northwestern Pacific Rail Line.

NCRA is a public agency created by the Legislature in 1989 to provide rail service in northern California, through Marin, Sonoma, Mendocino, Napa, and Humboldt counties. (Cal. Stats. 1989, Ch. 1085, Sec. 1. [codified at Gov. Code § 93000 et seq.]) The agency has statutory authority to use public and private funds to acquire, own, and operate property to ensure rail service, and has the option to contract with a private operator. (Gov. Code §§ 93001, 93010-11, 93020-23.) Historically, private

operators had failed to run the rail line profitably, “which led to the legislated public responsibility to maintain the transportation corridor for the economic vitality of the North Coast region.” (AR:13:6612¹; Gov. Code § 93003.)

To enable rail operations, NCRA acquired title or easements over both the northern portion of the line known as the Eel River Division (from Arcata in Humboldt County to Willits in Mendocino County) and the line’s southern portion known as the Russian River Division (from Willits to Lombard in Napa County). (AR:2:621, 643, 8:4082, 4086, 4473.) NCRA acquired the easements from the predecessor to the Sonoma-Marín Area Rail Transit District, which owns a portion of the line in the Russian River Division. (AR:13:6596-97.) Public agencies now own all of the line, from Arcata to Larkspur and Lombard.

NCRA operated freight service over the line from 1992 until the line closed in 1998 pursuant to an emergency federal order that determined that the line, which had suffered extensive storm damage, was unsafe.

(AR2:644, 9:4592-95, 13:6597.)² The line through the Eel River Canyon was and remains particularly unsafe, due to decades of inadequate maintenance coupled with extensive earth movements and landslides.

¹ Citations to the Administrative Record appear as “AR:[volume]:[page].”

² In 1996 NCRA secured authorization from the newly-created Surface Transportation Board to operate freight and passenger excursion services on the line. (See AR:9:4584.)

(AR:8:4079-80, 9:4715.) California agencies brought a toxic cleanup action against NCRA, resulting in a 1999 Consent Decree that requires NCRA to remediate widespread contamination and implement practices to avoid future toxic spills. (App:8:77b:2027-51.)³ These efforts included required restoration of the Eel River (App:8:77b:2029, 2039), which is a designated “wild” and “scenic” river under both the California Public Resources Code and federal Wild and Scenic Rivers Act (AR:20:10694).

After the rail closure, NCRA was unable to restore the dilapidated line absent significant funding. (AR:13:6299-300, 6537.) The line had been unprofitable since the 1980s and required extensive repairs. (AR:13:6536-37, 6550.) The Southern Pacific Company, a private rail company, had attempted to abandon the line in 1982, but was unsuccessful and sold it in 1989. (AR:13:6536.) Two successors, Eureka Southern and Rail-Ways Inc., filed for bankruptcy and a third operator became insolvent. (*Ibid.*) Estimates to restore just the southern portion of the line exceeded \$17 million. (AR:13:6569.)

In 2000, the Legislature stepped in and authorized \$60 million to fund repairs, improvements, and remediation under the Traffic Congestion Relief Program (“Relief Program”) administered by the California Transportation Commission (“Commission”). (Gov. Code, §§ 14556.40,

³ Citations to Plaintiffs’ Consolidated Appendix In Lieu of Clerk’s Transcripts appear as “App:[volume]:[tab]:[page].”

subd. (a)(32), 14556.50, subd. (e), (i).) To obtain that money, NCRA, as the implementing agency and lead applicant, signed a Master Agreement governing work on the line in accordance with Commission guidelines that all funding recipients must follow. (AR:9:4632 [§ II.3.A.(2)], 4623-24 [§ I.1.A.(2),(5)(c), (6)]; App:9:84:2369 [§ 1.2], 2373 [§ 2.4]; see Gov. Code § 14556.11.) Notably, those guidelines state that funded agencies are “responsible for . . . [c]omplying with all legal requirements . . . including . . . CEQA.” (App:9:84:2373.) NCRA acknowledged that, as the funding recipient, it shall be the “sole owner” of all improvements and property that are constructed, installed, or acquired with the funding. (AR:9:4634 [§ II.3.F.(1)].) Further, NCRA acknowledged that it “is obligated to continue operation and maintenance of [the] Project dedicated to the public transportation purposes for which [the] Project was initially approved.”

(Ibid.)

Before NCRA could secure the money, the Commission required it to devise a plan to rehabilitate the line to restore operations. (AR:9:4692.) In 2001, NCRA’s publicly-appointed directors adopted a policy to guide reestablishment and maintenance of freight railroad service across the entire line (AR:9:4689), and a separate policy for CEQA compliance (AR:20:10633-37). The Commission also directed NCRA to complete a Strategic Plan and assess the line’s capital needs. (AR:9:4692.) NCRA developed its first Strategic Plan in 2001 (*ibid.*), and a second in 2006

(AR:13:6611-625). An update to the second Strategic Plan confirmed NCRA's obligation to comply with CEQA before reopening the line to freight traffic. (App:8:77b:2092.) NCRA also prepared Capital Assessment Reports for the Commission in 2002 and 2005, which specify how NCRA would meet its duty to comply with CEQA. (AR:9:4741, 13:6315.)

To advance its efforts to reopen the line, NCRA issued a request for proposals to provide freight rail service on the line. (AR:13:6593-6610.) NCRA "envision[ed] a private-public partnership" with public ownership of the rail line and continued financial support for its repair and improvement, coupled with private franchisee operations on the line. (AR:13:6595; Gov. Code § 93020, subd. (f).) NCRA "solicit[ed] the creativity of the private marketplace to connect the dots between public capital, private capital and the emerging new economic justification for this railroad." (AR:13:6595.) After receiving five bids, NCRA ultimately selected NWPCo. as its contractor and memorialized the deal in a 2006 Lease Agreement ("Lease"). (AR:13:6723, 6725-86.) The parties agreed that NCRA was responsible for completing the CEQA process before the Lease became effective and railroad operations began. (AR:13:6731; App:5:48a:1414.)

The Commission disbursed the Relief Program money for the line to NCRA through a series of agreements. (See, e.g., AR:9:4623, 4692, 13:6801.) During this process, NCRA acknowledged to the Commission

that the project to reopen the Russian River Division would include an “environmental document under CEQA and NEPA” (AR:13:6792), and “Draft” and “Final EIR/EIS” documents would be prepared (AR:13:6802-03). The Commission funded work to establish an operable segment of the line in the Russian River Division, which included over two million dollars to prepare the EIR challenged in this case. (AR:13:6796.)

With funding moving forward, the private vendor NWPCo. submitted a 2007 Notice of Exemption to the Surface Transportation Board to obtain approval to change operators. (AR:16:8132.) In its submission, NWPCo. certified that its right to operate depended upon completion of the Lease terms, including NCRA’s CEQA compliance and the Sonoma-Marín Area Rail Transit District’s consent. (AR:16:8206-07, 13:6731.) In approving the change, the Board stated that “NWPCo certifies that upon consummation of the transaction, it will become a . . . rail carrier.” (AR:16:8207.)

As part of its attempt to comply with CEQA to reopen the line through the Russian River Division, NCRA prepared two types of environmental documents: (1) “categorical exemptions” to cover routine maintenance and repair work, and (2) the EIR challenged in this case, which purported to evaluate environmental impacts from large-scale rehabilitation work and the ultimate reopening the Russian River Division. (AR:16:7997-8001.) NCRA’s use of categorical exemptions triggered a

lawsuit by the City of Novato, which resulted in a Consent Decree that also required NCRA to comply with CEQA for certain agreed work, including track improvements to reduce freight noise. (AR:17:8899-8951, 8911.) Accordingly, NCRA included the work required by the Novato Consent Decree in the EIR challenged here. (AR:5:2043-51.)

In preparing the EIR, NCRA engaged multiple agencies and the public in a four-year environmental review process. (AR:1:1, 5:2020, 7:3467, 3472, 17:9031-10065.) But NCRA deferred environmental review for the remainder of the line in the Eel River Division until an unspecified date. (AR:1:22.) On June 20, 2011, NCRA certified its EIR for the Russian River Division and approved the major repair and reopening of the rail line. (AR:1:18-23.)

B. The Proceedings Below

On July 20, 2011, Plaintiffs Friends of the Eel River and Californians for Alternatives to Toxics filed mandamus petitions against NCRA for failure to comply with CEQA. (App:1:1:1-16, 1:5:35-65.) The petitions challenge numerous inadequacies in the EIR, most notably, its failure to consider that (1) rehabilitation and operation of the line would expose toxic chemicals and release them into the environment (App:1:5:54-55), and (2) reopening the line would lead to foreseeable environmental impacts to the Eel River Canyon (App:1:1:11-12).

After an unsuccessful attempt to remove the case to federal court (App:1:21:159-77), Defendants demurred to the petitions, arguing that the ICCTA preempts CEQA. (App:2:36:382-400, 3:40:792-93, 3:43:800-18, 5:46:1189-90). The trial court overruled the demurrer. (App:7:61:1842-43, 7:65:1863-64.) But after a merits hearing, a second judge held that the ICCTA preempted NCRA's CEQA obligations and denied the writ petitions. (App:16:133:4379.)

Plaintiffs appealed this ruling on July 8, 2013. Before the First District Court of Appeal issued its Opinion, the Third District Court of Appeal decided a materially similar preemption issue in *Town of Atherton v. California High-Speed Rail Authority* (2014) 228 Cal.App.4th 314. *Atherton* held that under the market participant doctrine, the ICCTA does not preempt a California agency's obligation to comply with CEQA for a State-owned rail project. (*Id.* at p. 341.) Despite *Atherton's* "contrary conclusion on similar facts," on September 24, 2014, the appellate court in this case affirmed the trial court's preemption ruling. (Opinion at pp. 1, 30.) The court likewise rejected a related doctrine holding that parties cannot invoke preemption to avoid their voluntary commitments. (*Id.* at pp. 21-24.)

The appellate court also dismissed U.S. Supreme Court precedent holding that Congress cannot preempt states' regulation of their subdivisions without an "unmistakably clear" statement that Congress intended to do so. (*Id.* at pp. 33-35.) The court found that the ICCTA

expressly preempts CEQA without analyzing the statutory text for the required “unmistakably clear” statement. (*Ibid.*)

Plaintiffs sought rehearing of that decision on October 14, 2014. On October 17, the court denied the rehearing petition and modified the Opinion to delete a footnote, but did not alter the judgment.

This Court granted review on December 10, 2014.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

After a hearing on the merits, the trial court held that federal law preempted CEQA, and denied the writ petitions on that ground alone. (App:16:133:4377, 4388.) This presents a question of law that the Court reviews de novo. (*In re Farm Raised Salmon Cases* (2008) 42 Cal.4th 1077, 1089, fn. 10.)

ARGUMENT

In enacting the ICCTA, Congress did not expressly preempt any state laws except those that regulate rail transportation. Neither the ICCTA preemption clause nor the statute’s structure and purpose indicate Congressional intent to preempt a state’s internal process for determining whether and how it will engage in the business of repairing and reopening a rail line. In California, that decisionmaking process must include compliance with CEQA, a public disclosure and accountability statute that applies to an agency’s decision regarding the expenditure of public funds and the use of public property. Three independent preemption doctrines—

the *Gregory* and *Nixon* clear statement rule, market participant doctrine, and voluntary commitment doctrine—further defeat ICCTA preemption in this case. These doctrines recognize that a state’s internal governance of its subdivisions and its proprietary actions in the marketplace are not preempted under the ICCTA. Moreover, the voluntary nature of NCRA’s commitment to comply with CEQA demonstrates that CEQA compliance in this case would not frustrate Congressional intent to have a uniform system of economic regulation of the rail industry. To the contrary, CEQA compliance was an essential step to obtain the money needed to reopen the rail line.

I. The ICCTA Does Not Express Congressional Intent to Preempt the State Actions at Issue Here.

A. In Determining Preemptive Effect and Scope, Courts Consider Congressional Intent and Apply a Presumption Against Preemption.

The Court’s analysis begins with the basic premise that preemption is an affirmative defense and Defendants bear “the burden of demonstrating a ‘clear and manifest’ congressional intent to preempt.” (*Brown v. Mortensen* (2011) 51 Cal.4th 1052, 1065; *Dilts v. Penske Logistics, LLC* (9th Cir. 2014) 769 F.3d 637, 649.) Thus, “the purpose of Congress is the ultimate touchstone in every pre-emption case.” (*Medtronic, Inc. v. Lohr* (1996) 518 U.S. 470, 485 [quotation omitted].)

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