Case No. S222472

**In the Supreme Court of the State of California**

FRIENDS OF EEL RIVER AND CALIFORNIANS FOR ALTERNATIVES TO TOXICS,  
*Plaintiffs and Appellants,*

vs.

NORTH COAST RAILROAD AUTHORITY AND BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF  
NORTH COAST RAILROAD AUTHORITY,  
*Defendants and Respondents,*

NORTHWESTERN PACIFIC RAILROAD COMPANY,  
*Real Party in Interest and Respondent.*

**SUPREME COURT  
FILED**

APR 10 2015

**Frank A. McGuire Clerk**

**Deputy**

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal  
First Appellant District, Division One, Case Nos. A139222, A139235

Appeal from Superior Court of the State of California for the  
County of Marin, Case Nos. CIV11-3605, CIV11-03591

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

Petitioners also cite *Engine Manufacturers* as evidence that environmental considerations constitute proprietary actions protected from preemption by the market participation doctrine (AOB at pp. 40–41), but that case is distinguishable. *Engine Manufacturers* concerned whether state rules applying to certain government fleet operators mandating that they purchase vehicles with fuel efficiencies in excess of those required by the Clean Air Act were preempted by the Clean Air Act. (498 F.3d at p.1042–1043.) There, no party disputed “the market participation doctrine applies” (*id.* at p. 1043) because “[t]he Clean Air Act largely preserves the traditional role of the states in preventing air pollution” (*id.* at p. 1042) and includes an express “[r]etention of State authority” (*id.*). (See *id.* at p. 1045 [noting different statutory schemes call for different definitions of “proprietary”].) In contrast, the ICCTA contains language indicating that

Congress intended to preempt all state interference with rail transportation, whether regulatory or proprietary, including that from CEQA.

b. *Legal Requirements Are Not Market Participation*

Petitioners further claim CEQA is proprietary because the state requires public agencies to agree to perform CEQA to obtain state funds. (AOB at p. 43.) But Petitioners did not challenge NCRA when it received money from CTC nor challenge CTC for funding NCRA in 2006. The CTC is not a party to this lawsuit and the track repairs it funded have long since been completed. (See AR 19.) Instead, Petitioners have challenged NCRA's EIR that purportedly analyzes the impacts of the Line's "resumed operations," which has nothing to do with state funding. (*See id.*; App. 1:2:16–19, App. 1:63:20–25) Further the state's broad policy to require CEQA review for projects funded by the state lacks "the narrow scope" necessary to "defeat an inference that its primary goal was to encourage a general policy rather than address a specific proprietary problem." (*Cardinal Towing, supra*, 180 F.3d at p. 693; cf. AOB at p. 44 [admitting that the state imposes CEQA on funding contracts to impose its "environmental *policy* to assess and reduce significant environmental impacts wherever feasible" (emphasis added)].)

Petitioners' characterization of CEQA as market participation is similar to Alaska's claim that its requirement (imposed by contract) timber taken from state lands be processed in Alaska prior to export was market participation. (*South-Central Timber, supra*, 467 U.S. at p. 84–85.) But Alaska was not acting as a market participant because Alaska's scheme was mandatory on purchasers (*id.* at p. 95), imposed restrictions on commerce (*id.* at p. 96), and had "a substantial regulatory effect outside [the timber processing] market" (*id.* at p. 97). The same can be said of California's requirement that agencies comply with CEQA to obtain state funds, since it is mandatory on agencies, imposes restrictions on commerce (here rail



transportation), and would regulate not just NCRA, but NWPCo and any downstream supplier of rail goods and services needed for the Line. (Cf. *id.* at p. 98 [acknowledging that absent a narrowly defined market, “the doctrine has the potential of swallowing up the rule that States may not impose substantial burdens on interstate commerce”].) *South-Central Timber’s* reminder is thus equally apt here: the market participation doctrine “is not *carte blanche* to impose any conditions that the State has the economic power to dictate, and does not validate any requirement merely because the State imposes it upon someone with whom it is in contractual privity.” (*Id.* at p. 97.)

c. *The Operations Agreement Recognizes ICCTA Preemption*

Petitioners alternatively argue that the proprietary action at issue is NCRA’s Operations Agreement with NWPCo. The Operations Agreement stated that it was conditioned upon NCRA “having complied with the [CEQA] *as it may apply to this transaction.*” (AR 6731 [emphasis added].) This clause refers to the potential application of CEQA to the NCRA’s entry into the Operations Agreement itself. Whether CEQA applied to NCRA’s entry into the Operations Agreement is now irrelevant. NCRA did not perform CEQA review for the transaction, and no party challenged NCRA’s approval of the Operations Agreement in 2006.

Further, the Operations Agreement explicitly recognizes ICCTA preemption. NWPCo agreed to comply with “any and all requirements imposed by federal or state statutes, or by ordinances, orders or regulations or any government body having jurisdiction . . . *subject to such exemptions from jurisdiction as may be set forth in the Interstate Commerce Commission Termination Act of 1995, 49 USC 10500 et seq.*” (AR 6744 [emphasis added].) The Operations Agreement also states “[n]othing herein shall diminish by this Agreement any rights under law or regulation to

which NWP[Co] is entitled as a railroad providing common carrier service on any portion of the NWP Line.” (*Id.*) No provision of the Operations Agreement indicates NCRA used or planned to use CEQA as part of its decision to select NWPCo as the operator of the Line or to impose conditions on NWPCo’s operations and maintenance obligations.

In sum, CEQA is regulation not market participation.

3. Even If Environmental Review Is Proprietary, Third Party Litigation Is Regulatory

Even if, as Petitioners claim, a state agency’s choice to comply with CEQA can be viewed as “proprietary” and preparing the EIR a component of this proprietary action (AOB at pp. 47–49), CEQA’s standing provisions, which allow any member of the public to bring a writ proceeding “challenging the adequacy of the review under CEQA is not part of this proprietary action.” (*HSRA, supra*, 2014 WL 7149612, at \*10 [quotation marks omitted].) This is true for at least two reasons.

First, as the STB correctly noted, “when a state invokes the market participation doctrine, it usually does so ‘defensively’ to protect its actions from federal preemption.” (*Id.*; see Opinion at p. 31.) When third-party petitioners claim to have standing to bring a CEQA lawsuit based on the market participation doctrine, however, “[p]etitioners seek to stand the market participation doctrine on its head and use it to avoid the preemptive effect of a federal statute the state entity is seeking to invoke.” (Opinion at p. 31.) Such a use is “antithetical to the purpose underlying the doctrine.” (*Id.*)

Second, there is an irreconcilable conflict between invoking the market participation doctrine to insulate CEQA from preemption on the claim that CEQA is proprietary, but then invoking CEQA’s public interest standing for the ability to sue the NCRA and NWPCo for allegedly violating CEQA. Public interest standing exists solely *because* CEQA is

regulatory. (*Save the Plastic Bag Coalition, supra*, 52 Cal.4th at p. 166.) As this Court has explained, “where the question is one of *public right* and the object of the mandamus is to procure the *enforcement of a public duty*, the [petitioner] need not show that he has any legal or special interest in the result, since it is sufficient that he is interested as a citizen in having the laws executed and the duty in question enforced.” (*Id.* (emphasis added) (quotation marks omitted); see *Rialto Citizens for Responsible Growth v. City of Rialto* (2012) 208 Cal.App.4th 899, 914 (“*Rialto*”) [The purpose of the public interest exception to otherwise applicable standing requirements is to guarantee “citizens the opportunity to ensure that no governmental body impairs or defeats the purpose of legislation establishing a *public right*” (emphasis added) (citations and quotation marks omitted).].)

California Code of Civil Procedure section 1021.5 underscores the regulatory role of public interest standing. “Section 1021.5 codifies the private attorney general doctrine” and “rests upon the recognition that privately initiated lawsuits are often essential to the effectuation of the fundamental public policies embodied in constitutional or statutory provisions.” (*Healdsburg Citizens for Sustainable Solutions v. City of Healdsburg* (2012) 206 Cal.App.4th 988, 992.) The purpose of section 1021.5 is to compensate “all litigants and attorneys who step forward to engage in public interest litigation when there are insufficient financial incentives” to do so. (*Conservatorship of Whitley* (2010) 50 Cal.4th 1206, 1211.) Successful petitioners with public interest standing in CEQA cases are awarded attorneys’ fees under section 1021.5 based the fact that by enforcing CEQA, petitioners conferred a significant benefit on a large segment of the public. (See, e.g., *City of Maywood v. L.A. Unified Sch. Dist.* (2012) 208 Cal.App.4th 362; *Healdsburg Citizens for Sustainable Solutions, supra*, 206 Cal.App.4th 988; *Building a Better Redondo, Inc. v. City of Redondo Beach* (2012) 203 Cal.App.4th 852.)

Since the market participation doctrine can be invoked only when the state acts as a market participant with no interest in setting policy, i.e., when a state seeks to secure services it needs and does not attempt to protect society as a whole by regulating others (*Cardinal Towing, supra*, 180 F.3d at p. 691), that doctrine does not support allowing citizens to act as regulators by bringing CEQA lawsuits (see, e.g., *Rialto, supra*, 208 Cal.App.4th at p. 914). Petitioners' legal action here is the most eloquent rebuttal to their attempt to invoke the market participation exception.

The *Grupp* cases highlight the conflict between invoking standing under a private attorney general theory and invoking standing to assert the market participation doctrine. The *Grupp* cases concern a third party (*Grupp*) filing state law claims alleging that DHL improperly billed various states it had contracted with to provide courier services. (See *DHL Express (USA), Inc. v. State, ex. rel. Grupp* (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2011) 60 So.3d 426; *State of N.Y. ex rel. Grupp v. DHL Express (USA), Inc.* (2012) 19 N.Y.3d 278; *Grupp v. DHL Express (USA), Inc.* (2014) 170 Cal.Rptr.3d 349, rev. granted July 30, 2014, 329 P.3d 192.<sup>6</sup>) *Grupp* had standing to bring false claims act litigation against DHL based solely on private attorney general provisions contained in state false claims acts. (*Id.*) Private attorney general provisions, like public interest standing, allow citizens to step into the shoes of the attorney general to enforce the law.

In each of the *Grupp* cases, the courts concluded that *Grupp* could not assert the market participation doctrine because to the extent *Grupp* had

---

<sup>6</sup> After *Atherton* cited *Grupp*, this Court granted review. (See *Grupp v. DHL Express* (2014) 329 P.3d 192 [granting review based in part on *PAC Anchor, supra*, 59 Cal.4th 772, which considers an action under California's unfair competition law based on a trucking company's alleged violation of state labor and insurance laws].) We cite *Grupp* here only to provide a complete response to Petitioners' cite of *Atherton* in footnote 5 on page 48 of their brief.

standing, that standing came from state false claims acts, i.e., regulation, and Grupp's attempt to enforce that regulation was not market participation. (See, e.g., *DHL Express (USA), Inc.*, *supra*, 60 So.3d at p. 429 [Florida "act[ed] as a regulator in authorizing suits [by the public] under the False Claims Act."]; *State of N.Y.*, *supra*, 19 N.Y.3d at p. 286 ["[P]laintiff's reliance on the [False Claims Act,] which establishes public policy goals and is thus regulatory in nature, renders the market participant exception inapplicable."]) Even though Florida, New York, and California may have acted as market participants when contracting with DHL, and may have been able to bring breach of contract suits against DHL based on the false fuel surcharges, Grupp was acting as a regulator, attempting to enforce broad state policies, and thus lacked standing to invoke the market participation doctrine.

Similar to Grupp, Petitioners have standing to assert CEQA claims against NCRA and NWPCO only under the public interest exception. (See App. 1:2-3, ¶ 2 [standing assertion in petition based on public interest], App. 1:52, ¶ 58 [same].) Accordingly, even if NCRA or NWPCO acted as market participants in procuring environmental review for railroad facilities or operations, FOER and CATs did not. FOER and CATs act only as self-appointed regulators policing NCRA's and NWPCO's alleged non-compliance with this state's broad environmental policy goals embodied in CEQA. The inherently regulatory of this litigation defeats a claim that the litigation is market participation.

Based on *Engine Manufacturers*, Petitioners argue that "enforcement provisions" alone do not transform proprietary to regulatory action. (AOB at p. 48.) But the enforcement provisions in *Engine Manufacturers* are not akin to CEQA's private attorney general provision, as it was unclear whether the enforcement provisions even applied to government agencies that failed to follow the rules regarding procurement of vehicles meeting

certain requirements. (*Engine Manufacturers, supra*, 498 F.3d at p. 1048.) Further, the enforcement mechanism in *Engine Manufacturers* could only be enforced by a party in the applicable market (the market to procure vehicles for fleets). (*Id.*) Citizen suits, however, are enforceable against the government and can be brought by any person even if they are not part of the market transaction, reflecting their regulatory nature. As such, they are not market participation.

**E. Neither NCRA Nor NWPCo Voluntarily Agreed To Waive ICCTA Preemption**

Neither NWPCo nor NCRA voluntarily agreed to waive ICCTA preemption. NWPCo has consistently asserted the ICCTA preempts state environmental review of its operations. (See, e.g., App. 2:376:27–377:4 [motion to strike Petitioners’ claims due to preemption].) NCRA did not voluntarily agree to waive ICCTA preemption for rail operations. (See Opinion at p. 25.) As Petitioners have stated more than once, “California has exercised its broad sovereign authority over public agencies by *requiring* them to comply with CEQA before carrying out public projects.” (AOB at pp. 28–29 [emphasis added].) That NCRA believed it was legally required to comply with this generally applicable regulatory regime defeats any notion that the NCRA was acting voluntarily when it prepared an EIR. (See, e.g., AR 4741 [NCRA 2002 report states that “NCRA, as a state created railroad authority, is *required* to comply with the provisions of CEQA prior to its decisions concerning the carrying out or approving a project (emphasis added).]; AR 6315 [same].) Nor does NCRA’s mistaken belief waive its right to claim CEQA is preempted. (See *Del Cerro Mobile Estates v. City of Placentia* (2011) 197 Cal.App.4th 173, 180–181 [city’s preparation of an EIR for a project did not waive its right to claim the project was categorically exempt from CEQA in later litigation].)

Even if NCRA promised the CTC it would be going to prepare an EIR, or NWPCo allowed the NCRA to include a clause permitting the NCRA to consider CEQA compliance before entering into the Operations Agreement, those promises do not indicate NCRA voluntarily agreed to be sued by Petitioners because third parties generally have no standing to sue to enforce voluntary contracts. (See, e.g., *Jenkins v. JPMorgan Chase Bank, NA* (2013) 216 Cal.App.4th 497, 515 [“an unrelated third party . . . lacks standing to enforce any agreements”].) Moreover, to the extent contracts exist, Petitioners have disavowed any effort to enforce them. (Opinion at p. 24.)

The conclusion that Petitioners lack standing to enforce an alleged voluntary commitment here is not necessarily contrary to *Atherton*. *Atherton* concerned the HSRA’s alleged voluntary agreement with the public (made through Proposition 1A) to be regulated by CEQA when determining the alignment for a brand new, state-run rail system. (228 Cal.App.4th at pp. 339–340.) Accordingly, the public, as a party to the agreement, may have the right to enforce it. NCRA made no similar agreement with the public.

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